
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - CABINET 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 15 September 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 
The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 
streamed live, via the following link: 
www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/  

 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), P E Coupland (Deputy Leader), C N Worth (Deputy 
Leader), G J Taylor, R Gambba-Jones, T A Carter, C J Lawton and A Casson 
 
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 3. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   7 September 2020 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 21 July 2020 (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
5 - 10) 

3.  Declarations of Interest. -  
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.) 
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).  
 

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.  
 

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.  
 

 

7.  2019/20 Financial Outturn -  
To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as 
at 31 March 2020 (report of the Portfolio Holder Finance and the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
11 - 36) 

8.  2020/21 Financial Report Quarter 1 -  
To provide information on the Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2020) financial 
position of the Council (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) is enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
37 - 58) 

9.  Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2021/22 - Consultation -  
To consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 
2021/22 (report of the Portfolio Holder Finance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
59 - 64) 

10.  Debt Write Off -  
To seek approval for the write-off of uncollectable debt (report of the 
Portfolio Holder Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151) enclosed). 
 
(Please note that the appendices to this report are not for publication by 
virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any individual), 2 
(Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual) and 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and are therefore 
attached to this agenda as item 13). 
 

(Pages 
65 - 68) 

Page 2



 

 

11.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -  
 
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 
(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 

be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 

 

12.  To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1,2 and 3 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

 

13.  Debt Write Off -  
Appendices to the report at agenda item 10 are enclosed. 

(Pages 
69 - 76) 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 9 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held virtually in line with The Local Authorities 
& Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime 
Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 21 July 2020 at 
10.00 am. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
G A Porter (Leader) 
C  N Worth (Deputy Leader) 
G J Taylor (Deputy Leader) 
 

T A Carter 
A Casson 

P E Coupland 
R Gambba-Jones 
 

C J Lawton 
 

  

Cabinet Support Members:  Councillors J Astill, H Drury, R Grocock and J D McLean  
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillor A R Woolf, and 
the Chief Executive.   
 
The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer), the Executive Manager 
Governance, the Executive Manager Growth, the Place Manager, the Environmental 
Services Manager, the Strategic Housing Manager, the Communications Manager, 
the Senior Projects Officer Regeneration and the Democratic Services Officer. 
 
In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
Councillor A M Newton (Independent Group Leader), Councillor E J Sneath 
(Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor A C Beal. 
 
 

12. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 June 2020 were agreed, and would be signed 
by the Leader as a correct record as soon as reasonably practical after the meeting. 
 

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.  
 
There were none. 
 

14. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION 
(STANDING ORDERS).  
 
There were none. 
 

15. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT TO CALL-IN.  
 
Re-opening of South Holland’s Markets, and Spalding Market Stall provision 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Place and Executive 
Director Commercialisation (S151) which requested that, in accordance with the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 10 - 
 
CABINET - 21 July 2020 

 

 

 

decision of the Performance Monitoring Panel, the issue of market stall provision at 
Spalding Market be reconsidered by the Cabinet. 
 
Members agreed that it was not necessary to debate specific information detailed 
within the exempt appendices, and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go 
into private session for this item. 
 
The decision of the Cabinet, made on 16 June 2020, had been called in and the 
Performance Monitoring Panel had discussed a number of issues - the following 
alternative proposal was submitted to the Cabinet for consideration: 
 

 Stalls should continue to be provided at Spalding market until the end of this 
financial year, or until proper and meaningful discussion is held with market 
traders, or their representatives, and that the whole issue be subject to a more 
thorough examination to enable the council to find a way to rebuild the Spalding 
market into an attractive, viable market, supporting the economic viability of the 
district and the town which would help support aims in our corporate plan. 

 
Members debated the issues that had been raised, and the main points arising were:  
 

 It had been suggested that market traders had not been advised of, or sufficiently 
consulted on, the proposed changes – Cabinet members and officers advised that 
attempts had been made to contact all stall holders and that responses had been 
recorded.  In addition, two members of staff had been on site, speaking to 
individuals, and the markets representative had confirmed that everyone had 
been spoken to. 

 Changes to the operation of the market had been put in place in a short space of 
time in order to re-open the market at soon as possible, and in a way that was 
safe for traders, staff and the public. 

 Some of the issues raised by the Performance Monitoring Panel were already 
being addressed, and picked up going forward, as part of the Spalding Town 
Centre Improvement Plan. 

 It was discussed how it was important that the future viability of the market in 
Spalding be considered.  Financing of the market was an important element going 
forward, and was it possible that savings and efficiencies could be made in certain 
areas, whilst still maintaining a strong market in the future.  The links with the 
Spalding Town Centre Improvement Plan were crucial to delivering this. 

 Best practice should be discussed with other authorities, and all options should be 
considered as part of the plans going forward. 

 Members requested that the free period be extended to 31 August 2020. 
 
Cabinet considered all of the issues and concerns raised as part of the call-in 
process, together with the views presented to it by members attending the Cabinet 
meeting.  Further work would be undertaken to address the question of regeneration 
of the market but given all the circumstances, and in particular the need to keep staff, 
market stall holders and the public safe, the Cabinet considered that its original 
decision remained appropriate. 
 
DECISION: 

Page 6



- 11 - 
 
CABINET - 21 July 2020 

 

 

 

 
That, following reconsideration of its decision of 16 June 2020 in respect of market 
stall provision at Spalding Market, and having regard to the concerns of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel, as detailed in the report: 
 

a) The decision of the Cabinet, made on 16 June 2020 be affirmed; and 
 

b) That the regeneration of Spalding market be addressed, in order to secure its 
continued success in the future.  

 
(Other options considered:  

 The Cabinet must reconsider the matter and must take into account the 
concerns of the Panel before adopting a final decision, which may or may not 
amend the original decision. The final decision shall not be subject to call-in 
and may be implemented immediately, but in making the final decision the 
Cabinet must explain the decision in relation to the concerns raised by the 
Panel and such explanation must be included on the notice of the decision.  

Reasons for decision:  

 To comply with the legal and constitutional requirements of call-in 

 To address issues raised by Councillors).  
 

16. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING PANELS  
 
There were none. 
 

17. RESOURCING OF THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING DEVELOPMENT TEAM  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health 
and Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which set out a proposal 
concerning the resourcing of the Council's Housing Development service, which 
would bring two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts into the 
establishment to align with the authority’s ambition to build new council houses and 
deliver new homes through its housing companies. 
 
DECISION: 
 
1) That the proposal to create two additional Housing Development Project Manager 

posts (2 FTE) within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment be supported 
and recommended to Council for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
2) That two additional Housing Development Project Manager posts (2 FTE) be 

created within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment. 
 
(Other options considered:  

 To do nothing - new posts would not be brought into the establishment. Vacant 
posts could be filled (subject to successful recruitment) but additional 

Page 7



- 12 - 
 
CABINET - 21 July 2020 

 

 

 

resources beyond the 3 FTE would not be available. If the ‘do nothing’ option 
was pursued, the authority could continue to have a moderate housing 
development programme likely to focus on one design and build project at any 
time alongside a small programme of acquisitions. 

Reasons for decision:  

 To enable the housing development team to deliver a greater number of 
housing projects for Welland Homes and the HRA.)  

 
18. HOLBEACH TOWN CENTRE - FUTURE HIGH STREETS FUND  

 
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Member for 
Commercialisation and Deputy Leader of the Council, which requested approval for a 
funding submission to government seeking major capital investment for three 
strategic projects for Holbeach Town Centre, and associated activity required to 
support the funding bid. 
 
Members agreed that it was not necessary to debate specific information detailed 
within the exempt appendix, and there was therefore no need for the meeting to go 
into private session for this item. 
 
DECISION: 
 
1) That a submission to government, seeking major capital investment in three 

strategic projects for Holbeach Town Centre, as part of central government’s 
Future High Street Fund, be approved; 

 
2) That the activities as set out in confidential Appendix 1 be approved to support the 

deliverability of the business case; and 
 

3) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director Commercialisation in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council, to make minor amendments 
to the funding business case as required prior to submission 

 
(Other options considered: 

 To do nothing – Under this option, the funding submission to government for 
major capital investment in Holbeach Town Centre would not proceed. 

Reasons for decision: 

 To be able to seek major capital investment in Holbeach Town Centre.  

 To be able to proceed with preparatory steps proposed to strengthen the 
deliverability of the project in the event of a successful funding award.) 

 
19. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE URGENT.  

 
There were none. 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 11.11 am) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 8



- 13 - 
 
CABINET - 21 July 2020 

 

 

 

 
 
These minutes are published on Friday, 24 July 2020.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday, 3 August 2020 (i.e. after 
the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless 
during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in 
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the 
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request 
for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed. 
 
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately. 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 29 July 2020. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 

(S151) 
  
To: Cabinet 15 September 2020 
 
Author: Carl Holland, Strategic Business Partner 
 
Subject:  2019/20 Financial Outturn 
 
Purpose: To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 

31 March 2020.  
 

 
Recommendations:  
 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted. 
 

2) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.4.2 to 5.4.4 and 
Appendix A, Tables 3 and 5 of this report. 

 
Recommendations to Council: 
 

3) That the net General Fund overspend of £218k be funded from the Council Tax Reserve 
 

4) That the value of reserves listed in Appendix A – Table 4 currently retained in the reserves 
detailed, £234k, are re-assigned to an Earmarked reserves fund to ensure that those funds 
are clearly designated to the purpose listed. 

 
5) That the revised General Fund capital programme of £10.386m Appendix A – Table 7 

and the revised HRA capital; programme for 2020/21 of £12.077m Appendix A – Table 9 
are approved. 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports have been completed forecasting the 

expected year end out-turn against the budgets. 
 

1.2 This report provides information on the unaudited 2019/20 outturn financial position of the 
Council in the following areas: 
 

 The Revenue Budget for the General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA), 

 The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,  
 The Capital Programme for 2019/20 (GF and HRA), and 
 The Treasury Management Performance for the year. 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



2.0 OPTIONS 
 

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A. 
 

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A. 
 
2.3 Do nothing. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
3.1 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance in 

2019/20 and to provide an updated financial position on reserves for 2020/21. 
 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly on the Council’s overall financial position and 
have the information required to assist in future financial decision making. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA, 

Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised within the 
following paragraphs, with further detail provided at Appendix A.   
 

5.2 General Fund Revenue Outturn 
 

5.2.1 The final year actual was a budget overspend of £218k, this variance is after the approval in 
quarter 3 to fund planning fee income shortfall and additional Homelessness cost of £600k 
from the Council Tax Reserve. It is recommend that the £218k overspend is also funded from 
the Council Tax Reserve.  
 

5.2.2 The revenue outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A - Table 1 together 
with an analysis of service variations.  The major variations are as follows: 
 

5.2.3 The 2019/20 budget included planned use of reserves of £3.326m offset by contributions to 
reserves of £2.508m, this was a budgeted net use of reserves of £0.818m.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



5.2.4 Council approved changes in the year resulting in an increased actual use of reserves    
during the year to £3.295m and a contribution to reserves of £2.606m, this resulted in an 
actual net use of reserves for 2019/20 of £0.689m. 
 

Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2019 

£'000 

Transfers 
to 

Reserve 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve 
Capital 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve 
Revenue 

£'000 

Balance at 
31/03/2020 

£'000 
Transformation (299) - 54 104 (141) 
Investment and 
Growth (5,489) (1,148) 794 579 (5,264) 
Earmarked Grants (394) (174) 0 116 (452) 
Council Tax (2,348) (1,284) 29 1,542 (2,061) 
Replacement and 
Refurbishment (172) - - 77 (95) 
Total Specific 
General Fund (8,702) (2,606) 877 2,418 (8,013) 
 

5.2.5 Actual revenue uses of reserves include:- 
 

 Homelessness £400k, 
 Planning Income £200k. 
 Repairs and Refurbishment various sites £243k, 
 Priory Road Works £254k, 
 PSPS Transformation investment £213k, and 
 Pride in South Holland £100k. 
 

5.3.2 Further details on the movement in Reserves are set out in Appendix A - Table 3 to this 
report.     

 
5.3 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn 

 
5.3.1 The HRA delivered an in year underspend of £541k. This was mainly due to: 

 Additional rental income compared to that budgeted (£50k). 
 Reduced costs of repairs and maintenance (£126k) due to some delays in projects 

and other reduced service costs. 
 Supervision and Management costs lower than budget (£72k) due to reduced 

professional fees, furniture and equipment cost and other net savings. 
 Depreciation costs higher than budget by £135k. 
 The required bad debt provision was less than budget (£140k) due to the emerging 

impact of Universal Credit. 
More detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2. 
 

5.4  Reserves (GF and HRA) 
 

5.4.1 General Fund Specific Reserves have reduced by £0.689m from £8.702m to £8.013m. This 
includes the recommended transfer from the Council Tax Reserve to fund the £218k 
overspend for 2019/20 which is subject to approval by Council. 

 

Page 13



5.4.2 Reserves were used to support a number of planned expenditure items and to support new 
budget pressures. There were also areas where reserves were budgeted though not used, 
such as the Crease Drove Development and where additional unbudgeted contributions were 
made to reserves, such as through grant money (Brexit and COVID support grant). Further 
details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3. 

 
5.4.3 The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.  During 2020/21 the General Fund 

Reserve will be kept under review relative to the Council’s overall risks and members will be 
informed if any change is proposed to the level of this reserve. 
 

5.4.4 The HRA General Reserve balance at 31st March 2019 is £19.809m and in-year increase of 
£3.234m. The Major Repairs balance has reduced from £4.684m to £3.586m as a result of 
capital funding requirements in excess of the annual contribution from depreciation. More 
detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 5. 
 

5.5  Capital – General Fund 
 

5.5.1 The total General Fund Capital Programme for 2019/20 was £10.053m all of which had 
received specific scheme approval. Compared to the approved budget, in year spend totalled 
£3.902m, giving an underspend of £6.151m. 
 

5.5.2 The main areas of underspend relate to operational acquisitions, Welland Homes, and 
provisional investment in capital acquisitions for commercial growth.   Some schemes have 
experienced delays in scheme starts and will require rollover of budget into the 2020/21 
capital programme. Revisions totalling £3.657m are recommended for approved schemes 
giving a revised 2020/21 programme of £10.386m. The capital programme has been revised 
to reflect the status of planned programmes at 31st March 2020 and is included at Appendix 
A – table 7. 
 

5.5.3 Appendix A – Table 6 provides more information on the 2018/19 General Fund capital 
outturn position, how it was funded and the variances from budget. Table 7 provides details 
of the revised 2020/21 capital programme as a result of required rollover of underspent 
budgets.  
 

5.5.4 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2020/21 General Fund Capital 
Programme, as set out at Appendix A table 7, of £10.386m. 
 

5.5.5 During 2020/21 there may be new emerging capital project funding requirements. Any 
required amendments to the capital programme will be presented in the Quarterly reports 
during 2020/21. 

 
5.6 Capital – HRA 

 
5.6.1 The total HRA Capital programme for 2019/20 was £11.184m all of which had received 

specific scheme approval. Against this approved budget in-year spend totalled £8.888m, an 
underspend of £2.296m. The main reasons for this underspend relate to delays in the new 
build affordable housing programme (£1.436m), underspends of (£0.425m) on the decent 
homes programme (mainly heating, electrical and chimneys) and delayed delivery of ICT and 
PSPS transformation programmes (£0.261m).  
 

Page 14



5.6.2 Appendix A – Table 8 provides more information on the HRA capital outturn position, how 
it was funded and the variances from budget. The revised HRA capital programme for 
2020/21 as a result of determined as necessary rollover in unspent budget (£2.548m) is 
provided at Table 9 and totals £12.077m. 
 

5.6.3 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2020/21 HRA Capital Programme, as 
set out at Appendix A table 9, of £12.077m. 
 

5.7 Capital - Other 
 

5.7.1 During 2019/20 the Council received £2.228m in capital receipts, £2.187m of which related 
to the HRA. There were 28 houses sold under Right to Buy.  More detail is provided at 
Appendix A.  
 

5.7.2 Appendix A - Table 10 also sets out the Council’s ongoing capital financing requirement, 
the measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing requirement. This has remained low as a 
result of programme underspends, but is budgeted to increase due to roll forward of unspent 
budget from 2019/20 of £3.657m. From major capital programmes for Welland Homes, 
Crease Drove industrial Units and additional funding for Growth and commercialisation 
projects.    
 

5.8 Treasury Management 
 

5.8.1 Appendix A provides more information on the investments held by the Council at 31 March 
2020 (£44.3m). The average investments held during the year were £42.7m. 
 

5.8.2 Interest earned on investments in 2019/20 was £517k (compared to the budget of £520k).   
 

5.8.3 Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position.  More information on 
Treasury Management is available in the Treasury Annual Report which was considered by 
Governance and Audit Committee on 30 July 2020, and will be considered by Full Council 
on 23 September 2020. 
 

5.9 Statement of Accounts 
 

5.9.1 The unaudited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2020 have 
been provided to the Council’s auditors (Ernst Young), with the audit due to be completed by 
the end of November 2020. 
 

5.9.2 The unaudited Statement of Accounts will be published on the Council’s website during 
September 2020 for public inspection, which will continue for a period of 30 days, in line with 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.   

 
5.9.3 The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  
 

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 

6.1       Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council. 
 

Page 15



7 ACRONYMS 
 

7.1 GF   General Fund 
HRA  Housing Revenue Account 
RTB   Right to Buy 
ICT   Information and Communications Technology 
MTFP   Medium term Financial Plan 
PSPS  Public Sector Partnership Services 

 

Background papers:  
                                               The 2019/20 Estimates Report to Council 27 February 2019 

 
 
Lead Contact Officer: 
Name and Post: Carl Holland; Strategic Business Partner   
Telephone Number  
Email: carl.holland@pspsl.co.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Financial report for 2019/20 with details of the GF and HRA revenue 

spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management. 

Page 16



    

1 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

South Holland District Council  
 

Financial Report for the Year Ending 31 March 2020  
 

General Fund Revenue Outturn 
 
The total General Fund (GF) budget requirement for the year was £13,688k as approved by 
Council on 27 February 2019. 
 
The final GF outturn position is an overspend of £218k (Table 1), this variance is after the 
approval in quarter 3 to fund planning fee income shortfall and additional homelessness costs 
of £600k from the Council Tax Reserve. This position required some further support from 
reserves for unplanned expenditure, the use of reserves to support the budget is detailed at 
Table 3. The significant variances from budget that have contributed to the GF outturn position 
are detailed in the notes to Table 1 below. 
  

Actual 
Outturn 

Q4 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Q3 

Adverse/ 
(Favourable) 
Movement  

£000 £000 £000 
Net Service 
Overspend 

361 804 (443) 

Additional Financing 
Income 

(143) (131) (12) 

Net Overspend 218 673 (455) 
 
 
Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn –  
 
Service Area  

Note 
 

Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Outturn 

£’000 

 
Variance 

£’000 
 
Commercialisation 

 
   

Commercialisation 1 437 293 (144) 
Economic Development 2 106 146 40 
Finance 3 756 1,080 324 
Revenues and Benefits 4 436 480 44 
Total – Commercialisation  1,735 1,999 264 
     
Place     
Assets and Property 5 205 237 32 
Building Control 6 (45) (51) (6) 
Community Development 7 965 993 28 
Housing 8 248 241 (7) 
Environmental Services  3,609 3,610 1 
Planning 9 (275) (215) 60 
Spalding Special Expenses  55 56 1 
Town Centre Improvement Programme  0 1 1 
Investment properties  (153) (155) (2) 
Total - Place  4,609 4,717 108 

Page 17



    

2 
 

Service Area  
Note 

 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Outturn 

£’000 

 
Variance 

£’000 
     
Strategy and Governance     
Corporate Improvement and Performance 10 (24) 114 138 
Communications 11 120 139 19 
Corporate Management 12 549 599 50 
Democratic Services 13 916 1,025 108 
HR  338 334 (4) 
IT and Customer Services  1,226 1,223 (3) 
Public Protection  445 454 9 
Total - Strategy and Governance  3,570 3,887 317 
     
Statutory recharge to the HRA for 
support services (*) 14 (1,721) (1,782) (61) 
     
Internal Drainage Boards & Parish 
Precepts  3,294 3,294 - 
Investment Income  (358) (356) 2 
Transfers to Reserves 15 2,443 2,307 (136) 
Increase/ (Decrease) in Impairment 
Allowance 

 
16 116 (17) (133) 

Total Cost of Services  13,688 14,049 361 
     
Financing     
Government Grants 17 (2,526) (2,706) (180) 
Council Tax  (6,046) (6,046) - 
Retained Business Rates 18 (5,116) (5,079) 37 
Total Financing  (13,688) (13,831) (143) 
     
Funding Shortfall Drawn from Council 
Tax Reserve 

 
- 218 218 

Support service recharges are a non-controllable cost to budget holders, and are therefore not reported 
as part of the service analysis above. 
(*) An adjusting line has been added to show the value of recharges to the HRA, for support services 
and corporate management (including the debt management recharge); a corresponding debit entry is 
showing in the HRA table below. 
 
Notes to Table 1: 
 

1. Commercialisation (£144k) underspent 
 Planning Policy is underspent by (£90k) due to lower than anticipated activity 

in relation to the Local Development Framework. 
 Housing Development and Strategy and Enabling are underspent by (£98k) as 

a result of a vacant post in year (£22k), project support costs that have been 
capitalised (£82k), this has been slightly offset by unbudgeted spend for Legal 
and Professional costs £6k. 

 Income from commercial projects not achieved £63k due to re-profiling of 
Delivery Unit project timescales, this is offset by a saving from staff vacancies 
(£19k). 

 
2. Economic Development £40k Overspent 

 Lower than anticipated rechargeable costs against Grants4Growth grant 
claims. 

Page 18



    

3 
 

 
3. Finance £324k Overspent 

 £231k of targeted savings reprofiled to 2020/21. Transformation savings of 
£50k for joint owned Public Sector Partnership Services reprofiled to 2020/21. 

 Banking charges over budget by £16k as a result of higher volume of 
transactions. 

 Actual pension costs under budget (£12k). 
 In year Internal Audit fees are over budget by £15k and there are costs from 

18/19 of £24k. 
 

4. Revenues and Benefits £44k Overspent 
 Net increase in court income over court collection costs (£4k). 
 Council tax and Council Tax Benefit administration costs are (£8k) and (£13k) 

lower than budget. 
 Housing Benefits overpayment income lower than budgeted £100k. 

Increasingly benefits are administered through Universal Credit lessening the 
need to recover HB overpayments. 

 A net overspend of £104k on Rent Allowance payments of and subsidy is offset 
by an underspend of (£135k) on Rent Rebate payments and subsidy. 

 A budgeted provision for Bad Debts of (£96k) was not required following a 
review at year end. This is reflected within the favourable variance at note 16 
below. 
 

5. Assets and Property £32k overspent 
 A £40k pressure arising from Priory Road Rents due to the rental agreement 

commencing later than budgeted. Tenancy has since commenced. 
 Utility charges were higher than estimated across various sites £17k and 

Priory Road £5k.  
 Additional spend on replacement of footway lighting, as a result of delivering 

next phase earlier than planned £12k. 
 Underspend of programmed maintenance budget (£58k) favourable. 
 Adhoc savings (£6k). 
 Leisure asset costs recoverable at end of contract (£78k) favourable. 
 Additional costs of asset upgrade for Leisure assets £87k. 
 Additional staff resource costs £11k adverse incurred to manage Leisure 

Assets upgrade. 
 Other adhoc costs £2k. 
 

6. Building Control (£6k) underspent 
 Building control fees favourable (£32k).  
 Lower than budgeted Land Charge inspection fees £29k. 
 Other savings on service costs (£3k). 

 
7. Community Development £28k overspent 

 South Holland Centre net favourable income from shows (£43k). 
 South Holland Centre has additional staff costs £2k and unachieved salary 

efficiencies £12k. 
 South Holland Centre £4k overspend on utilities. 
 An additional cost of £20k is for maintaining service levels during staff 

absences at Ayscoughfee Museum. 
 Utility costs £16k over budget across Ayscoughfee site, which are a result of 

prolonged period of estimated charges. Other adhoc costs £2k. 
 Christmas lights expenditure £7k adverse, funding to be arranged from S106. 

Page 19



    

4 
 

 Leisure Management budget, the actuals are as per the contract, however, at 
the time of budget setting the full terms of the agreement were not known 
resulting in a variation between the estimated budget and the final contract. 
And other Strategic Leisure Management variations amounting to £10k. 

 As previously reported Business Rates are being charged on the dry side 
leisure centre. In the previous year the leisure centre was eligible for 100% 
exemption, for 2019/20 the exemption has been determined at 50% creating 
a pressure for the full year of £51k, this has been paid for from General Fund 
Reserves. 
 

8. Housing (£7k) underspent 
 Homelessness B & B Accommodation up significantly £434k, due to the 

implications of the Homelessness Reduction Act, £34k overspend after net 
£400k contribution from Council Tax Reserve (approved by Council 26th 
February 2020). 

 Homelessness grant received and transferred to earmarked reserves £32k 
adverse, but remains in reserves for use in 2020/21. 

 Increased income (£49k) from recoverable costs for Disabled Facilities 
Grants. 

 Additional income from Houses in Multiple Occupation Licences above 
budget of (£10k). 

 Other adhoc savings on supplies (£14k). 
 

9. Planning £60k overspent 
 Underachieved Planning income of £352k offset by contribution from Council 

Tax Reserve (£200k) approved by Council on 26th February 2020. 
 Lower than anticipated spend on employees and professional fees (£108k) due 

to in-house provision and lower than budgeted demand. 
 Additional costs on staff travel £4k, Computer hardware £5k, other adhoc £7k. 

 
10. Corporate Improvement and Performance £138k overspent 

 Savings target reprofiled to 2020/21 £135k. 
 Other £3k staff and computer hardware costs. 

 
11. Communications £19k overspent 

 Staff costs overspend £19k, including apprentice costs, salary efficiency 
unachieved, this is offset in the HRA recharge line (£7k) 
 

12. Corporate Management £50k overspent 
 Correction payment to HMRC £25k. 
 Shared staff costs in relation to pay increase £18k after partial recharge to 

HRA. 
 Other adhoc variations £7k. 

 
13. Democratic Services £145k overspent. 

Democratic Representation overspend of £37k includes: - ,  
 Members National Insurance costs £20k, 
 Elections VAT liability £26k 
 Below budget spend on Parish elections (£4k) 
 Electoral register grant higher than budgeted (£5k) 

 
Right To Buy costs £7k recovered from Statutory Recharge to HRA. 
 

Page 20



    

5 
 

Legal Services budget underspend and additional income from lease renewal work 
(£10k). 
 
Procurement - insurance saving of (£37k) achieved, unrealised general fund savings 
£74k as a result of high demand from Housing Revenue Account procurement needs. 

 
14. Statutory Recharge to HRA (£61k) increased income 

 In addition to budgeted recharge of corporate management and support 
service costs to the HRA, additional recharges were incurred for Project 
support, Right to buy administration costs and communication staff costs. 
 

15. Transfer to Reserves (£136k) underspent.  
 The budgeted contribution to Reserves to support future spend on Repairs and 

Refurbishment used to support relevant in year expenditure (£136k) 
 

16. Decrease in Impairment allowance (£133k) reduced provision. 
 The provision for bad debt has been reviewed on the basis of better than 

anticipated performance of overpaid housing benefits with lower than 
anticipated impact of changes from Universal Credit at this time. The review 
has resulted in a reduction from the budgeted contribution to bad debt provision 
from £116k to (£17k). The provision for 2020/21 has been reduced to £86k from 
£116k in 19/20. 

 
17. Government Grants (£180k) increased income. 

 Gains on S31 grants as a result of multiplier calculation change (£180k), 
additional grant regarding discretionary relief not budgeted for. 

 
18. Retained Business Rates £37k overspent. 

 £23k overspend on levy payment due to changes in appeals provision at year 
end. £14k relating to reduced renewable energy income in 18/19 released in 
19/20 due to Collection Fund accounting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 21



    

6 
 

Housing Revenue Account 
 
Table 2 – HRA Revenue Outturn –  
The outturn for the HRA shows a favourable position of (£541k) underspend. 
 

 
Notes to Table 2: 
 
1. Rent Income Dwellings (£50k) additional income – This variance is circa 0.3% of total 

income, Right to Buy sales and increased income from increased property stock have 
had an impact on the overall position. 
 

2. Charges for Services and Facilities (£74k) underspent – Income from room and 
premise hire has benefited from increased demand (£31k). Service charges on 
Sheltered Housing (£16k) and Community Facilities (£13k) above budget but in line with 
last year’s actuals. Sewerage charges income (£1k) higher than last year, no increase 
budgeted, but charges rose in line with Anglian Water increases. Lifeline charges (£9k) 
below budget. This is demand driven and fewer individuals are taking up the service. 
Other adhoc costs incurred amounting to £5k. 

 
3. Repairs and Maintenance (£126k) underspent – There are underspends on materials 

and consumables (£95k) for void and responsive repairs. Additional lease costs and van 
rental of £49k. Slippage of the award of footpaths and roadways contract resulted in a 
(£134k) in year underspend. Contractors are only used when the skills are not available 
in house for specialised projects. There has been reduced demand for these services in 
year, resulting in an underspend of (£61k). Expected work on Asbestos removal has not 
been required (£121k). There was unbudgeted spend £124k on responsive roof repairs 
and an £124k overspend on Planned Maintenance solid fuel servicing and gas repairs. 
There are other adhoc savings amounting to (£13k). 

Service Area 
 

Note Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Outturn 

£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

     
Rent Income - Dwellings 1 (14,646) (14,696) (50) 
Charges for Services and Facilities 2 (1,169) (1,243) (74) 
Contributions to Expenditure  (27) (23) 4 
Total Income  (15,842) (15,962) (120) 
     
Repairs and Maintenance 3 2,857 2,731 (126) 
Supervision and Management 4 2,961 2,897 (64) 
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 5 79 56 (23) 
Depreciation 6 3,124 3,259 135 
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 

 
 1,721 1,782 61 

Total Expenditure  10,742 10,725 (17) 
Contribution from Operations  (5,100) (5,237) (137) 
     
Movement in the allowance for bad debts 7 221 81 (140) 
Investment Income  (161) (161) - 
Interest Payable on £67.456m  2,347 2,347 - 
Capital expenditure charged in year  - - - 
Transfer to MRR and Other Adjustments 8 - (264) (264) 
         
Net (Surplus)/Deficit  (2,693) (3,234) (541) 

Page 22



    

7 
 

 
4. Supervision and Management (£72k) underspent – Underspend on Maintenance in 

Sheltered Housing and Community Facilities is (£39k), this is partly demand driven, in 
addition to completion of programmed works. The Furniture and Equipment budget for 
both Sheltered Housing and Community Facilities is (£43k) underspent as it is demand 
driven. Actual utility expenditure is less than budgeted (£41k). The underspend was 
reduced by recharges for project management of £60k. 
 

5. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£23k) underspent – Council tax and rent on 
void properties is less than budgeted but comparable with 2018/19 levels. 
 

6. Depreciation £135k overspent - Effect of revaluations last year and amortisation of 
Intangible assets. 

 
7. Movement in the allowance for bad debts (£140k) underspent – Budget was set high 

due to emerging impact of universal credit, position will continue to be monitored.  
 
8. Transfer to MRR and Other Adjustments (£264k) – These are year-end Statutory 

Adjustments, which include, Pension fund adjustments, revaluation adjustments and 
gains on sale of property. 

Page 23



    

8 
 

RESERVES 
 

 

Reserve 

Balance 
31 

March 
2019 
£'000 

Contributions 
to Reserve 

£'000 

Transfer  
from  

Reserve 
(Capital) 

£’000 

Transfer  
from  

Reserve 
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Balance 
31 

March 
2020 
£'000 

Comments 

Transformation (299) - 54 104 (141) Revenue spend: 
£36k National Graduate Trainee; £5k EHC Apprentice; 
£23k Interim Programme Manager; £23k Office 365; 
£17k Safeguarding Officer 
Capital spend: 
£6k Shared Public Protection Software; £48k Office 365 

Investment and Growth (5,489) (1,148) 794 579 (5,264) Contributions:  
(£52k) Green Waste Revenue; (£1,002k) New Homes 
Bonus; (£29k) Leisure Management return; (£65k) HIF 
Capital spend: 
£127k PSPS Transformation; £43k Grounds 
maintenance equipment; £143k Leisure Management 
mobilisation; £247k Priory Road Works; £65k ICT 
infrastructure; £45k Office 365; £101k Fleet 
Maintenance Vehicles; £6k Electric Vehicle Charging; 
£15k Castle Sports boiler; £2k Asset Feasibility 
Revenue spend: 
£80k Digital Strategy; £120k Delivery Unit resourcing; 
£7k Priory Road Accommodation; £23k Strategic 
leisure; £4k Planning - Course fee; £20k Planning - 
Ocella; £27k Temporary resource - Housing; £3k 
Temporary Fleet Admin post; £1k Future Towns; £12k 
Asset feasibility; £39k FEZ; £77k Asset review 
programme; £166k Asset Works 
 

Table 3 – General Fund Reserves 
 

 

P
age 24



    

9 
 

Reserve 

Balance 
31 

March 
2019 
£'000 

Contributions 
to Reserve 

£'000 

Transfer  
from  

Reserve 
(Capital) 

£’000 

Transfer  
from  

Reserve 
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Balance 
31 

March 
2020 
£'000 

Comments 

Earmarked Grants (393) (174) - 116 (451) Contributions: 
(£41k) Councillors’ Budgets; (£53k) Brexit Funding; 
(£59k) COVID-19 LA Support Grant; (£15k) MHCLG - 
Custom Build Grants; (£6k) MHCLG - New Burdens 
Brownfield 
Revenue spend: 
£96k Homelessness reduction; £18k S106 - Donington; 
£2k Public Protection - Brexit  

Council Tax (2,348) (1,284) 
 
 

29 1,542 
 
 

(2,061) Contributions: 
(£1,276k) NNDR Surplus on collection fund; (£8k) 
Spalding Special budget underspend 
Capital spend: 
£10k Members ICT refresh; £19k Priory Road Works 
Revenue spend: 
£17k 18/19 Reserve Reallocation; £36k Asset works; 
£51k Sports Hall - Business Rates contribution; £218k 
GF Overspend; £400k Homelessness; £200k Planning 
Income; £112k District Election; £318k Grants 4 
Growth; £27k Shared Data Protection Officer (IGO); 
£3k DCB contribution - Johnson's Portraits; £5k Noise 
Monitoring Equipment; £148k Pride; £7k South Holland 
Centre 

Replacement and 
Refurbishment 

(173) - - 77 (96) Revenue spend: 
£77k Assets programmed maintenance 

Total Specific Reserves (8,702) (2,606) 877 2,418 (8,013)   

General Reserve (2,078) - - - (2,078)   
Total Reserves (10,780) (2,606) 877 2,418 (10,090)   

 

P
age 25



    

10 
 

Table 4 – Proposed Earmarked reserves 
It is recommend to Council that the following amounts currently retained in the Council’s General Fund Reserves detailed, £234k, are re-assigned to an 
Earmarked reserves fund to ensure that those funds are clearly designated to the purpose listed. 

 

Current Reserve 
Amount 

£ 
Scheme 

Council Tax Reserve (129,310) Spalding Special Account Reserve 
Replacement and Refurbishment 
Reserve 

(5,000) Equipment replacement-Power Station 

Replacement and Refurbishment 
Reserve 

(10,269) 
NNDR leisure connection savings for 
Leisure investment 

Investment and Growth Reserve (89,438) Planning 20% re-investment reserve 
Total (234,017)   

 
Table 5 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves 

 
 
 
 
  

  

Balance  
31 March 

2019 
£’000 

 
Contributions 

to Reserve 
£’000 

 
Use of 

Reserve 
£’000 

Balance  
31 March 

2020 
£’000 

 
Comments 

       
HRA Working Balance  (16,575) (3,234) - (19,809) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve 
        
HRA Insurance Reserve (200) - - (200)  
      
Major Repairs Reserve (4,684) (3,260) 4,358 (3,586) HRA depreciation contribution to MRR is 

used to fund the capital programme in 
future years. The transfer from MRR in-
year was used to fund 19/20 capital 
programme spend. 

      
   (21,459) (6,494) 4,358 (23,595)  
        

P
age 26



    

11 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Table 6 – General Fund Capital Outturn 
 

 
 
Project 

 
Note  

 
Budget 
2019/20 

£’000 

Actual 
Outturn 
2019/20 

£’000 

Variance 
(under)/   

overspend 
£’000 

ICT Infrastructure  82 82 - 
Shared Public Protection Software 1 67 13 (54) 
Office 365 Additional Spend  94 92 (2) 
PSPS Transformation Investment 2 146 127 (19) 
Members ICT Equipment Refresh  10 10 - 
Priory Road Central Heating 3 92 77 (15) 
Priory Road Fire Doors & Access 3 36 19 (17) 
Priory Road Toilets 3 30 27 (3) 
Priory Road Lift 3 42 41 (1) 
Priory Road LCC Registrars  83 83 - 
South Holland Centre 4 46 - (46) 
Castle Sports – Boiler  15 15 - 
Operational Acquisition 5 2,500 - (2,500) 
Temp. Accommodation Central 
Heating 

6 - 19 19 

Capital Acquisitions re Growth and 
Commercialisation 

 
7 

 
1,225 

 
- 

 
(1,225) 

Purchase of Property for Temp. 
accom. for Homelessness 

  
4 

 
2 

 
(2) 

Electric Vehicle Charging 8 52 22 (30) 
Crease Drove  21 21 - 
Grants for Growth 9 377 479 102 
Food Enterprise Zone 10 1,100 - (1,100) 
Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) 11 1,000 707 (293) 
Garden Waste (bins and vehicle) 12 21 - (21) 
Grounds Maintenance  37 43 6 
Playground Equipment (S106) 13 - 17 17 
Fleet Maintenance (3 Vehicles) 14 170 101 (69) 
Pavement Cleaning Machine 15 34 - (34) 
Disabled Facilities Grants 16 585 608 23 
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 17 75 39 (36) 
Welland Homes 18 1,966 1,115 (851) 
Asset Investment  143 143 - 
Total Approved Schemes  10,053 3,902 (6,151) 
     
Financed By:     
Capital Receipts  (38) (38) - 
Capital Grants and Contributions  (1,110) (1,872) (762) 
Internal Borrowing  (4,466) (1,115) 3,351 
Revenue Resources  (4,439) (877) 3,562 
  (10,053) (3,902) 6,151 
     

 
 
 
 

Page 27



    

12 
 

Notes to Table 6: 
 

1. Shared Public Protection System (£54k) – This project continues delivery into 
2020/21. 

2. PSPS Transformation Investment (£19K) – Current Programme budget continues 
into 2020/21 funded from revenue. 

3. Priory Road Schemes (£36k) – delay in works will result in Central Heating and Fire 
Doors and Access to be carried forward to 2021/22. Toilets and Lift projects are 
complete with small underspend. 

4. South Holland Centre (£46k) – Budget carried over from 2018/19 not spent and no 
longer required. 

5. Operational Acquisition (£2.5m) – Project removed from programme. 
6. Temporary Accommodation Central Heating (£19k) – Heating systems replaced on 

temporary accommodation properties as part of Decent Homes program. 
7. Capital Acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation (£1.225m) – Programme 

made no in year commitments, budget rolled forward to 2020/21. 
8. Electric Vehicle Charging (£30k) – Program continues into 2020/21 with a revised 

budget of £21k. 
9. Grants for Growth (£291k) - Additional spend supported by grant income 
10. Food Enterprise Zone (£1.1m) – Project delayed, carried forward to 2020/21 
11. Housing Infrastructure Fund (£293k) – Funding from Lincolnshire County Council 

Partnership, budget rolled forward to 2020/21. 
12. Garden Waste bins and vehicles (£21k) -  In year spend less than budgeted, amount 

carried forward to 2020/21 and reduced from £21k to £10k. 
13. Playground Equipment £17k – Installation funded by S106 monies. 
14. Fleet Maintenance (£69k) – Equipment acquisition timescales delayed so balance 

carried forward to 2020/21.  
15. Pavement Cleaning Machine (£34k) – Delay in delivery due to Covid 19, delivered 

early in 2020/21 year so carried forward 
16. Disabled Facilities Grants (£23k) – Forecast expenditure is based upon current 

scheme referrals from LCC and was lower than budgeted.  
17. Decent Homes, Unfit and Disrepair (£36k) – Demand driven, and referrals less than 

expected. 
18. Welland Homes (£851k) – Five (Bentley Court) of the 10 properties programmed to 

be purchased were purchased. The balance for the remaining five properties will be 
carried forward into the 2020/21 program. 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



    

13 
 

As a result of the above project activity to the 31 March 2020, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2020/21 is updated as follows in Table 7 and is recommended for approval 
by Full Council.   
A full review of the Capital Programme is currently underway due to the impact of Covid-19 
and other priorities, a revised programme will be presented in a future report. 
 
Table 7 – General Fund Capital Programme Revised 2020/21 

 
 
Project 

 
Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 

 
Budget  

c/f 
2019/20 

£’000 

 
Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 
ICT Infrastructure 121 - 121 
Shared Public Protection Software - 55 55 
Office 365 Additional Spend - 2 2 
PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF 124 20 144 
Priory Road - Air Conditioning / Cent Heating 53 15 68 
Priory Road – Hardwood Sash Windows 83 - 83 
Priory Road – Fire Doors & Access - 17 17 
South Holland Centre 16 - 16 
Ayscoughfee Hall Lighting 40 - 40 
Industrial Units Roof Replacement 100 - 100 
Industrial Units Development of Compound 50 - 50 
Capital Acquisitions re Growth & 
Commercialisation 

 
500 

 
500 

 
1,000 

Purchase of Property for Homelessness - 2 2 
Electric Vehicle Charging - 21 21 
Crease Drove Industrial Units 1,174 - 1,174 
Grants for Growth 581 - 581 
Food Enterprise Zone - 1,061 1,061 
HIF Funding - 1,000 1,000 
Garden Waste 184 10 194 
Grounds Maintenance 36 - 36 
Environmental Services Operational 552 - 552 
Facilities 21 - 21 
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles (3) - 69 69 
Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine - 34 34 
Disabled Facilities Grants – Private sector 585 - 585 
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 - 75 
Welland Homes 2,434 851 3,285 
Total Approved Schemes 6,729 3,657 10,386 
    
Financed By:    
Capital Receipts (749) - (749) 
Capital Grants and Contributions (1,241) (1,043) (2,284) 
Internal Borrowing (3,170) (851) (4,021) 
Revenue Resources (1,569) (1,763) (3,332) 
 (6,729) (3,657) (10,386)  

   
 
 

Page 29



    

14 
 

 
Table 8 – Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn 
 

 
 
Project N

o
te

  
Budget 
2019/20 

£’000 

 
Actual 

Outturn 
£’000 

Variance 
(under)/ 

overspend 
£’000 

     
Central Heating Upgrade 1 1,054 1,067 13 
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1 1,192 1,288 96 
Electrical Upgrade 1 75 74 (1) 
Gutters  150 146 (4) 
Re-Roofing  1 425 269 (156) 
Doors & Windows  - 4 4 
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes 1 150 - (150) 
Replacement Fire Doors Lansdowne 
Court 

 
75 74 

(1) 

Chimneys 1 177 27 (150) 
Paths & Drives  36 35 (1) 
Boundary Walls  1 75 - (75) 
Fees  206 206 - 
Decent Homes  3,615 3,190 (425) 
Sewerage Treatment Plant  204 195 (9) 
The Square 2 338 24 (314) 
Car Parks 2 65 - (65) 
Major Area Schemes  607 219 (388) 
ICT Strategy 3 86 25 (61) 
Housing IT System 3 359 257 (102) 
PSPS Transformation Investment 3 98 - (98) 
IT/System  543 282 (261) 
Major Adaptions 4 481 389 92 
Aids & Adaptions  481 389 92 
CSU Vehicle Replacement  269 263 (6) 
CSU Vehicle Replacement  269 263 (6) 
Grounds Maintenance  13 15 2 
Environmental Services  13 15 2 
Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove 5 3,716 2,280 (1,436) 
Purchase of Units – Ashwood Homes 6 783 1,127 344 
Purchase of Open Market Properties 7 1,157 1,120 (37) 
Wignals Gate S106 Acquisition 8 - 3 3 
Total Affordable Housing  5,656 4,530 1,126 
     
Total Approved Schemes  11,184 8,888 (2,296) 
Financed By:     
Capital Receipts  (709) (3,620) (2,911) 
Direct Revenue Funding  (1,611) - 1,611 
Major Repairs Reserve  (7,764) (4,358) 3,406 
Grants and Contributions  (1,100) (910) 190 
  (11,184) (8,888) 2,296 
     

 
 

Page 30



    

15 
 

 
 
Notes to Table 8: 

1. Decent Homes (£425k) – Overspend on Central Heating (£13k) and Kitchen and 
Bathrooms (£96k) were due to essential replacements and acceleration of work due to 
Covid restrictions on property access. Underspend on Re-roofing (£156k) due to delay 
in awarding contract. Flat Entrance Doors for Sheltered Schemes (£150k) was delayed 
due to additional advice sought on necessity of work, and budget will be carried 
forward. Boundary Walls Contract not in Place (£75k), so spend delayed. Contracts 
also delayed in respect of Chimneys, and Paths and Drives, so Budget will be carried 
forward. 
 

2. Major Area Schemes (£388k) – Delays with English Heritage and Planning regarding 
works on the Square (£314k). Contract for Car Parks (£65k) was not in place for the 
majority of the year. All  underspends to be carried forward 

 
3. ICT / System (£261k) - ICT Strategy (£61k) and Northgate Housing IT System (£102k) 

behind program, underspend carried forward to 2021/22. PSPS Transformation 
Investment (£98k) was unable to be capitalised in SHDC as assets are owned by 
PSPS. Funded by revenue. 

 
4. Aids & Adaptations (£92k) – Programme is demand-led due to the nature of the 

works which relate to the health and ability of funding applicants and suitability of 
property. 

 
5. Weston Development (£1,436k) – Small Drove Weston Project Delayed due to 

contamination issues with site. Underspend carried forward to 2020/21 
 

6. Purchase of Units (£344k) overspend – Project Complete with only minimal spend 
left. Overspend due to early delivery of units not originally due for delivery until October 
and December 2020 
 

7. Purchase of Open Market Properties (£37k) - Project Complete with only minimal 
spend left.  
 

8. Wignals Gate S106 Acquisition (£3k overspend) – Pre Approval work. Project due 
for delivery in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 

 
  

Page 31



    

16 
 

As a result of the above project activity to the 31 March 2020, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2020/21 is updated as follows in Table 8 and is recommended for approval 
by Full Council. 
 
Table 9 – Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Revised 2020/21 

 
 
Project 

Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 

Budget 
c/f 

2019/20 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 
Central Heating Upgrade 604 - 604 
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,295 - 1,295 
Decent Homes components 318 - 318 
Gutters - - - 
Smoke Alarms  106 - 106 
Roofs & Gutters 656 134 790 
Doors & Windows 2 - 2 
Flat Entrance Doors  Sheltered Schemes 159 150 309 
Chimneys 199 150 349 
Paths & Drives 37 - 37 
Boundary Walls  107 75 182 
Fees 210 - 210 
Decent Homes 3,693 509 4,202 
    
Sewerage Treatment Plant 216 9 225 
The Square 358 315 673 
Car Parks 27 65 92 
Major Area Schemes 601 389 990 
    
ICT Strategy 62 61 123 
Housing IT Systems Upgrade 100 102 202 
CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA 82 14 96 
ICT Infrastructure 6 - 6 
IT/System 250 177 427 
    
Major Adaptions 390 - 390 
Aids & Adaptions 390 - 390 
    
Grounds Maintenance 13 - 13 
South Holland Maintenance 65 - 65 
Environmental Services 78 - 78 
    
Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove 177 1,436 1,613 
Purchase of Open Market Properties - 37 37 
Purchase of Units  280 - 280 
Wignals Gate S106 1,860 - 1,860 
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval 2,200 - 2,200 
Affordable Housing 4,517 1,473 5,990 
    
Total Approved Schemes 9,529 2,548 12,077 

  

Page 32



    

17 
 

 
 
 

Original 
Budget 
2019/20 

£’000 

Budget 
c/f 

2018/19 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2019/20 

£’000 
Financed By:    
Capital Receipts (3,257) - (3,257) 
Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds (409) - (409) 
Direct Revenue Funding (2,628) (177) (2,805) 
Major Repairs Reserve (3,235) (2,181) (5,416) 
Grants and Contributions - (190) (190) 
 (12,532) (2,548) (12,077) 
    

 

Capital Receipts 
 
There were 28 right-to-buy sales during 2019/20, resulting in total net receipts for the year of 
£1.992m, before administration costs and pooling payments. There was a further £195k of 
Shared ownership sales during 2019/20.  
 

Capital Receipts £'000 

RTB Sales (1,992) 

Shared Ownership Sales (195) 

Grants repaid (41) 

Total (2,228) 

 
The Capital Receipts Balance in the HRA as at 31st March 2020 is £2.423m. In the General 
Fund there were receipts of £41k relating to repayment of Grants and the balance at 31 March 
2020 is £638k. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
 
Table 10 below shows the CFR which is a prudential indicator and shows the underlying need 
to borrow, based on the actual position at the end of 2019/20. Where the CFR is positive it 
denotes the need to borrow. 
 
The 20/21 budgeted CFR movement increases over previous years due to the rollover of 
programmes relating to Welland Homes (£0.851 rollover from 2019/20) and funding to be 
programmed for Growth and Commercialisation (£0.5m additional over 2019/20) 

 
Table 10 – Capital Financing Requirement 

 
 2017/18 

£’000 
2018/19 

£’000 
2019/20 

£’000 
2020/21 

     
CFR – Non HRA 3,847 5,453 6,568 9,738 
CFR – HRA 68,439 68,439 68,439 68,439 
Total 72,286 73,892 75,007 78,177 
     
Movement in CFR 1,120 1,606 1,115 3,170 

 

Page 33



    

18 
 

Treasury  
 
Security 
 
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 
Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating 
calculated for each financial institution. 
 
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.   
 
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties 
excluding accrued interest.   
 

 

 
Cash 
 
The Council’s average level of treasury deposits during 2019/20 was £42.7m and non-
treasury deposits was £3.0m.  As at 31 March 2020 investments held were £44.3m of which 
£11.19m was instant access cash available to meet cash flow requirements.  Other 
investments based on cost were made up of: 

 
£26.12m - short term investments up to 12 months 
£2.60m - Welland Homes equity 
£1.06m - Equity in South Holland Local Housing Community Interest Company 
£3.23m - Loans to Welland Homes  
£143k - Loan to Castle Sports Leisure 

 
The following chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to 
maturity.  

Page 34



    

19 
 

 

 
 
Yield 
 
Budgeted Interest 2019/20                £520k (£359k Gen.Fund and £161k HRA)    
Actual Interest achieved 2019/20          £517k (£356k Gen.Fund and £161k HRA) 
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.634% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2019/20                 1.122% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2018/19                 0.956% 
 
The level of interest achieved was broadly in line with the original budget. 
 
External Borrowing 
 
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year. 
 
Year End Accounting 
 
Following the introduction of IFRS9 Financial Instruments the Council is required to measure 
its equity investments at Fair Value.  This has resulted in the Council’s long term equity in 
Welland Homes increasing by £250k, South Holland Local Housing Community Interest 
Company equity decreasing by £29k and the UK Municipal Bond Agency equity decreasing 
by £50k on the balance sheet. 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 

(S151) 
  
To: Cabinet 15 September 2020   
 
Author: Carl Holland, Strategic Finance Manager 
 
Subject:  2020/21 Financial Report Quarter 1 
 
Purpose: To provide information on the Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2020) financial position of 

the Council.  
 

 
Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:  
 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted. 
 

2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of 
reserves be noted. 
 

3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted as set 
out in table 5 and 6 of Appendix A. 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast full 
year financial performance at 30 June 2020, in the attached appendix, for the following 
areas: 

 The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF), 
 Housing Revenue Account (HRA), 
 The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position, 
 The Capital Programme for 2020/21 (GF and HRA), and  

 
2.0 OPTIONS 

 
2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A. 
 
2.2 Do nothing. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
Financial position. 
 

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond quickly 
to opportunities as they arise. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA, 

Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with 
further detail at Appendix A.  
  

5.2 General Fund Revenue Outturn 
 

5.2.1 THE FULL YEAR OUTTURN BASED ON CURRENT PROJECTIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS IS A FORECAST 
SERVICE OVERSPEND IN THE GENERAL FUND OF £2.828M, (22.5% OF NET BUDGET) AND INCLUDES 
THE COST OF COVID-19, UNREALISED SAVINGS AND NET PRESSURES FROM SERVICES. AFTER 
ALLOWING FOR ADDITIONAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS OF £1.158M. THE COUNCIL IS LEFT WITH A 
PROJECTED NET OVERSPEND OF £1.670M. 
 

5.2.2 Included with this outturn position are service costs and pressures amounting to £0.105m 
and are detailed in Appendix A – Table 1 together with an analysis of service variations.   
  

5.2.3 FURTHER MITIGATION HAS BEEN MADE AVAILABLE VIA A COMPENSATION SCHEME FOR ELIGIBLE 
LOST SALES, FEES AND CHARGES, FINAL GUIDANCE AND CLAIMING DETAILS HAVE BEEN RECENTLY 
PUBLISHED BY THE MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT.  THIS 
ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL SUPPORT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED IN THIS FORECAST OUTTURN BUT 
WILL BE INCLUDED IN FUTURE QUARTERLY REPORTS. 
 

5.2.4 It is extremely difficult to forecast accurately in the current circumstances and therefore 
 these numbers will change over the coming months and will continue to be reported to 
 Cabinet each quarter. 
 
5.3 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn 

 
5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a £8k surplus budget. Detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2. 
 
5.4  Reserves (GF and HRA) 

 
5.4.1 As a result of financing the Planned General Fund Capital Programme and General Fund 

revenue spend the General Fund Specific Reserves are forecasting a net use of reserves 
of £4.316m from £8.013m to £3.697m, further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3. 
 

5.4.2 In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.   
 

Page 38



5.4.3 The HRA General Reserve balance is forecasting an overall increase of £0.927m from 
£23.595m to £25.027m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 4. 
 

5.5  Capital – General Fund 
 

5.5.1 There are no changes to the 2020/21 General Fund Capital Budget at this time Appendix A 
Table 5 and the explanatory notes detail the current forecast outturn £8.722m.  A full review 
of the Capital Programme is currently underway due to the impact of Covid-19 and other 
priorities, a revised programme will be presented in future quarterly reports. 

 
5.6 Capital – HRA 

 
5.6.1 There are no changes to the 2020/21 HRA Capital Budget at this time. Appendix A Table 

6 and the explanatory notes detail the forecast outturn of £9.498m. 
 

5.7 Treasury Management 
 

5.7.1 Appendix A - Section 5 provides details of the Council Treasury Investments. Interest 
earned on investments during the year to 30 June 2020 was £109k (compared to the 
profiled budget of £136k), Appendix A provides more information on the investments held 
by the Council at 30 June 2020. The forecast income from investment interest has been set 
at £345k a reduction of income of £199k, (General Fund pressure of £140k and HRA 
pressure of £59k). 
 

6 Other Key Items 
 

6.1 Uncertainty over the Councils future funding sources remain as a result of the Chancellor of 
the Exchequers confirmation that the review relating to the percentage of retained Business 
Rates have again had to be delayed by Government from the planned implementation in 
2021/22 alongside the Fair Funding review.  

 
6.2 The Covid-19 pandemic has had a considerable impact on the Council, our businesses and 

our residents. It is difficult to quantify the financial effects of the pandemic with any 
certainty, but it is expected to be significant, even after the Government’s emergency 
Covid-19 funding is taken into account.  This continues to be a major area of risk looking 
forward as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Planning and is being closely 
monitored. 
 

7 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 

7.1 Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council. 
 

8 ACRONYMS 
 

8.1 GF   General Fund 
HRA  Housing Revenue Account 

Page 39



HRT  Housing Repairs Team 
RTB   Right to Buy 
ICT   Information and Communications Technology 
MTFS   Medium term Financial Strategy 

 

Background papers: The 2020/21 Estimates Report to Council 26 February 2020 

 
Lead Contact Officer: 
Name and Post: Carl Holland; Strategic Finance Manager   
Telephone Number 01775 764681 
Email: carl.holland@pspsl.co.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Financial report for 2020/21 with details of the GF and HRA revenue 

spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management. 

Page 40



Page 1 of 18 

South Holland District Council 
Financial report for the Period ended 30 June 2020 

 
This report has five sections 

 Section 1 –  General Fund Revenue budget 
 Section 2 -   HRA Budget 
 Section 3 –  Reserves 
 Section 4 -   Capital budget 
 Section 5 –  Treasury update 

 
Section 1 – General Fund 

 
The full year outturn based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast net service 
overspend in the General Fund of £1.67m, (13.3%) against the approved budget for 2020/21 of 
£12.552m. This is comprised as follows: 
  

Forecast 
Outturn 

Q1  
£000 

Net Service Overspend 2,828 
Additional Grant Income (1,158) 
Net Overspend 1,670 

   
Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn  

  N
o

te
 Revised 

Budget 
at Q1 

Forecast 
Outturn 

at Q1 

Forecast 
Variance 

at Q1 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 
Commercialisation         
Commercialisation 1 373 432 59 
Economic Development 2 114 129 15 
Finance   1,153 1,153 - 
Revenues and Benefits 3 379 670 291 

Total – Commercialisation   2,019 2,384 365 

Place         
Assets and Property 4 284 224 (60) 
Building Control 5 (24) 150 174 
Community Development 6 996 1,463 467 
Environmental Services 7 3,870 4,363 493 
Housing  510 510 - 
Planning 9 2 147 145 

Page 41



Page 2 of 18 

  N
o

te
 Revised 

Budget 
at Q1 

Forecast 
Outturn 

at Q1 

Forecast 
Variance 

at Q1 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 
Spalding Special Expenses   62 62 - 
Investment properties 10  (187) (159) 28 

Public Protection 11 437 485 48 

Total – Place   5,950 7,245 1,295 

Strategy and Governance         
Corporate Improvement and 
Performance 

  153 153 - 

Communications  12 146 167 21 
Environmental Health 
Consultancy 

 13 39 43 4 

Corporate Management   632 632 - 
Democratic Services 14 1,014 1,021 7 
HR  348 348 - 
IT and Customer Services  1,276 1279 3 
Total - Strategy and 
Governance 

  3,608 3643 35 

Statutory recharge to the HRA 
for support services 

  (1,964) (1,964) - 

Internal Drainage Boards & 
Parish Precepts 

  3,457 3,457 - 

Investment Income  14 (383) (243) 140 
Transfers to Reserves   773 773 - 
Savings Requirement  (993) - 993 

Total Cost of Services   12,552 15,380 2,828 

          
Financing         
Government Grants  (2,754) (2,754) - 

Council Tax   (6,305) (6,305) - 

Retained Business Rates  (3,493) (3,493) - 

Local Authority COVID Support 
Grant 

15 - (1,158) (1,158) 

Total Financing   (12,552) (13,710) (1,158) 

        

Net Variance   -  1,670 1,670 
 
Significant variances are detailed in the notes below. 
 
 

Page 42



Page 3 of 18 

Notes to Table 1: 
 
Commercialisation and Growth 
 

1. Commercialisation £59k pressure. 
 Shared service saving from Boston Borough Council arrangement (£27k). 
 Delivery Unit £30k pressure for spend on external supply of property management services 

offset by forecast for vacant post in Asset and Property services. 
 Delivery Unit, forecast income pressure of £55k. 

 
2. Economic Development £15k pressure. 

Staff resources diverted to Business Support grant away from Grants for Growth work which 
would be funded by grant. 
 

3. Revenues and Benefits £291k pressure. 
 Council Tax Collection - Court income is nil since the lockdown came into effect. Courts have 

not been held. A forecast pressure of £150k, against a budget of £240k, has been based on 
courts commencing from October 2020. 

 Housing Benefit Overpayments recovery income is forecast to reduce by £150k. Increasingly 
benefits are administered through Universal Credit, as a result, the budgeted income from 
recovery of overpayments is now forecast to be £200k against the original budget of £350k. 

 Other favourable budget variations for Admin costs (£9k) 
 
Place 

 
4. Assets and Property (£60k) favourable.  

 Savings forecast in respect not filling a vacant post (£43k). A proportion of this has been 
forecast for use towards external property management support. 

 Estimated utility savings for vacant premises during pandemic (£19k). 
 Priory Road Covid Secure installations £2k. 

 
 

5. Building Control £174k pressure. 
 Building Control Fee and Consultancy income forecast to reduce as a result of impact of 

pandemic on demand for services £115k. 
 Land charges - £61k income pressure as a result of reduced demand. 

 
6. Community Development £467k pressure.  

 SHC additional pressure of £171k as a result of temporary closure in compliance with 
pandemic guidelines. 

 Leisure management cost pressure of £297k forecast as a result of temporary closure in 
compliance with pandemic guidelines. This also includes forecast costs for implementing 
safer opening measures. 

 Net saving of (£14k) from temporary closure to the public of Ayscoughfee Museum and 
Gardens, as a result of reduced spend on administration of now cancelled events. 

 Street marshals for safer high streets support £10k. 
 

 
 

Page 43



Page 4 of 18 

7. Environmental Services £493k pressure.  
 Cost of additional freighters £60k and crew £50k to provide COVID-19 safe operating 

environment for waste collection service plus £10k for protective equipment. 
 Cleaning materials £17k and cleaning staff £29k for Council facilities. 
 Reduction in car parking income creates a pressure of £279k as a result of charge free period & 

reduction in ticket purchases due to COVID-19. 
 Reduction in car park income processing fees of (£11k) due to reduced car park income. 
 A pressure of £69k has been forecast for Market operations as a result of the free market period 

and revision to fees 1st April - 30th September. 
 Environmental Service operations having benefited from a reduction in fuel price resulting in a 

favourable movement in forecast of (£13k). 
 Reduction in other income of £5k during the pandemic. 
 Bus Station income reduction of £5k as a result of reduced service levels during the pandemic 
 Adhoc savings accumulating to (£4k) have been forecast. 

 
8. Planning £145k pressure 

 Planning Application Fees pressure forecast of £177k due to reduced service demand during 
pandemic. 

Reduced service demand has also indicated the following savings:-  
 Staff posts held vacant forecast (£16K) Saving. 
 A forecast agency staff saving (£5k). 
 (£8K) reduction in supplier charges. 

 
 

9. Investment Properties £28k pressure 
 Reduction of £28k in forecast income from Industrial units as a result of pause on lease 

renewals during Pandemic. 
 

10. Public Protection £48k pressure 
 A 20% reduction in year for licencing income has been forecast creating a pressure of £24k. 

Licensing Act income collection has been paused to be recovered later in year. County Council 
have paused the issuing of any new Taxi Licences, income has therefore been profiled for 
receipt from September 2020.  

 £27k saving target pressure from delay in preplanned Service Review. 
 

Strategy and Governance. 
 

11. Communications £21k pressure 
 £21k for leaflet drop and COVID awareness measures. 

 
12. Environmental Health Consultancy £4k pressure 

 £4k Reduction in income & associated costs, as a result of no live course delivery. 
 

13. Democratic Services £7k pressure 
Legal advice. 
 
 
 

 

Page 44



Page 5 of 18 

Corporate and Financing 
 

14. Investment Income £140k pressure. 
 Markets rates have reduced since budget setting, forecast assumes the existing low rates 

continue for reinvesting maturing deposits. 
 

15. Government Grants – Local Authority COVID Support Grant (£1.158m) favourable 
 The Council has received COVID support grant of £1.158m in order to support additional costs 

associated with the COVID response. 
 

Other: 
 As a result of the economic impact of COVID-19 there has been delay to other planned 

efficiencies and this remains an area of concern. 
 Reduced spend on staff and member travelling costs as result of remote meetings and reduced 

services visits (£13k). 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 45



Page 6 of 18 

Section 2 – Housing Revenue Account 
Table 2 – Forecast Revenue Outturn  
 

 
Notes to Table 2: 
 
1. Charges for Services and Facilities (£34k) excess income 

 Service Charge income increase by £26k to be in line with last year’s outturn and current 
year running rate, Income from Guest Rooms demand driven and made use of for homeless 
during Covid crisis £7k 

2. Contributions to Expenditure £(£41k) excess income 
 Housing Grant £50k received last year, £41k carried forward to this year which will be used to 

set against any professional and contractors fees in Housing Enabling 
3. Repairs and Maintenance (£117k) underspend 

 The Covid lockdown resulted in a number of weeks where only emergency work was done on 
occupied properties which resulted in an underspend on repairs of £157k. The reduction in 
spend, also results in a reduction in recharges of £25k reducing the net saving to £132k 

 Salary costs £34k higher, £27k due to Property Services manager role covered by Agency, 
and £7k due to 0.75% salary increase over Budget. 

 Savings on Staff Travel due to Covid £9k 
 Further savings on council Tax £3k (included in Operational buildings apportionment), 

Telephones £3k, Cleaning £2k. 

Service Area 
 

Note Budget 
£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variance 

£’000 
 
Rent Income – Dwellings 

  
(15,049) 

 
(15,055) 

 
(6) 

Charges for Services and Facilities 1 (1,176) (1,210) (34) 
Contributions to Expenditure 2 (27) (68) (41) 
Total Income  (16,252) (16,333) (81) 
     
Repairs and Maintenance 3 2,894 2,777 (117) 
Supervision and Management 4 3,017 3,168 151 
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 5 76 55 (21) 
Depreciation  3,236 3,236 - 
Movement in the allowance for bad debts  271 271 - 
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 

 
2,024 2,025 1 

Total Expenditure  11,518 11,532 14 
      
Contribution from Operations  (4,734) (4,801) (67) 
     
Investment Income 6 (161) (102) 59 

Interest Payable on £67.456m 
 
 

2,347 2,347 - 

Capital expenditure charged in year  - - - 
Other Adjustments  - - - 
      
Net (Surplus)/Deficit  (2,548) (2,556) (8) 

Page 46



Page 7 of 18 

4. Supervision and Management (£151k) overspend 
 Overspends on: 

i. Accommodation Costs for tenant £12k 
ii. Covid safety measures and cleaning for communal areas £19k 
iii. Covid Hardship Fund to support Housing Services Tenancy Sustainability 

Policy £50k 
iv. PSPS IT Transformation £96k 
v. Reduced Income on Housing Enabling, budgeted Capital spend profile on 

Small Drove Weston weighted to 2020/21. 
vi. New Roles in Housing Enabling £52k 
vii. Printing Costs re Covid Notices £13k 

 Underspends on: 
i. General Repairs – Delay due to pandemic (£24k) 
ii. Management  costs (£19k) 
iii. Reduced staff travel (£5k) 
iv. Reduced spend on subscriptions (£6k) 
v. Staff Training & Course Fees (£21k) 
vi. Utilities – Forecast in line with last year and current running rate (£24k) 

 
5. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£21k) underspend 

 No charges on Rent for past two years so rent Budget Removed £11k 
 Business Rates and Council Tax brining in line with Actual running rate and Last year £10k 

 
6. Interest and Investment Income £59k reduction in Income 

 Markets rates have reduced since budget setting, forecast assumes the existing low rates 
continue for reinvesting maturing deposits. 

 
 

Page 47



Page 8 of 18 

Section 3 – Reserves 
 

Table 3 - General Fund Reserves 
 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 
Transformation (141) - 30 43 (68) Capital Spend 

£2k Office 365; £28k Shared 
Public Protection Software 
Revenue Spend 
£5k EHC Apprentice; £23k 
Interim Programme Manager; 
£15k National Graduate Trainee 

            
Investment and 
Growth 

(5,264) (1,152) 3,152 1,771 (1,493) Contributions 
(£52k) Garden Waste; (£4k) 
Fleet Maintenance; (£29k) 
Leisure Management Return; 
(£1,067) New Homes Bonus 
Capital Spend 
£40k Ayscoughfee Hall; £1,000k 
Capital Investment Purchases; 
£2k Commercial Acquisition - 
Surveys; £425k Crease Drove; 
£5k Electric Vehicle Charging; 
£57k Environmental Services; 
£1,061k Food Enterprise Zone; 
£10k Green Waste; £121k ICT 
Infrastructure; £69k Fleet 
Maintenance Vehicles; £50k 
Industrial Units - Railway Lane; 
£168k Priory Road Works; £144k 

P
age 48



Page 9 of 18 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 
PSPS Transformation 
Investment 
Revenue Spend 
£440k Future Towns; £23k 
Temporary Housing Resource; 
£15k Efficiency Programme; 
£500k Community Investment 
Fund; £120k Delivery Unit 
Contribution; £38k Asset 
Feasibility; £229k Digital 
Strategy; £20k Holbeach 
Electricity Infrastructure; £74k 
Homelessness; £11k Kings 
Road; £58k Asset Works; £95k 
Northern Spalding SUE; £20k 
Office 365; £23k Priory Road - 
Accommodation; £6k Planning; 
£49k Programme Management 
Resource; £13k Windows 
Servers; £22k Shared External 
Grants Officer; £15k Strategic 
Leisure 

            
Earmarked Grants (451) - - - (451)   
            
Council Tax (2,061) (49) 56 506 (1,548) Contributions 

(£40k) District Elections; (£9k) 
Equipment Replacement 
Programme 
Capital Spend 

P
age 49



Page 10 of 18 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 
£40k Pride - Gladiator; £16k 
South Holland Centre 
Revenue Spend 
£29k Spalding Special Asset 
Works; £3k South Holland 
Centre; £10k Noise Monitoring 
Equipment; £430 NNDR Deficit 
Funding; £29k Information 
Governance Officer; £5k IT 
Software Upgrade 

    
 

  
 

    
Replacement and 
Refurbishment 

(96) (141) - 100 (137) Contributions 
(£136) Revenue Contribution - 
programmed maintenance; (£5k) 
Revenue Contribution - 
equipment replacement 
Revenue Spend 
£77k Assets Programmed 
Maintenance; £23k Condition 
Surveys 

            
Total Specific 
General Fund 
Reserves (8,013) (1,342) 3,239 2,419 (3,697)   
            
General Reserve (2,078) - - - (2,078)   
            
Total Reserves (10,090) (1,342) 3,239 2,419 (5,775)   

P
age 50



Page 11 of 18 

 
 

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
 

  Balance  
31 March 

2020 
£’000 

 
Contributions 

to Reserve 
£’000 

 
Use of  

Reserve 
£’000 

Balance  
31 March 

2021 
£’000 

 
Comments 

        
       
HRA Working Balance:  (19,809) (2,556) 226 (22,139) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve 
        
HRA Insurance Reserve (200) - - (200)  
      
Major Repairs Reserve (3,586) (3,235) 4,133 (2,688) HRA depreciation contribution to 

MRR is used to fund the capital 
programme in future years.  The 
transfer from MRR in-year was used 
to fund 19/20 capital programme 
spend 

      
   (23,595) (5,791) 4,359 (25,027)  
        

P
age 51



Page 12 of 18 

 
Section 4 – Capital 

 
There are no revisions proposed to the approved General Fund Capital Programme at this time. The 
forecast detailed in table 5 shows a reduced in-year use of this budget by £1.664m. A full review of 
the Capital Programme is currently underway due to the impact of Covid-19 and other priorities; a 
revised programme will be presented in future quarterly reports. 
 
Table 5 – General Fund Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 
 

Scheme 

N
o

te
 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(under) / 
Over 
Spend 

    £000's £000's £000's 

ICT         

ICT Infrastructure   121 121 - 

Shared Public Protection Software   55 55 - 

Office 365 Additional Spend   2 2 - 

PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF   144 144 - 

Total ICT   322 322 - 

Assets and Property         

Priory Road - Central Heating   68 68 - 

Priory Road Hardwood Sash Windows   83 83 - 
Priory Road - Fire Doors and Access   17 17 - 
South Holland Centre   16 16 - 
Ayscoughfee Hall - Replacement Lighting to LED   40 40 - 
Industrial Units - Roof replacement  1 100 - (100) 
Industrial Units - Development of external compound    50 50 - 

Total Assets & Property   374 274 (100) 

Commercialisation         
Capital Acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation   1,000 1,000 - 
Purchase of Property for Homeless Scheme   2 3 1 
Electric Vehicle Charging   21 21 - 

Total Assets & Property   1,023 1,024 1 

Economic Development         
Crease Drove Industrial Units   1,174 1,174 - 
Grants for Growth   581 581 - 
Food Enterprise Zone   1,061 1,061 - 
HIF Funding (Housing Infrastructure Funding)   1,000 1,000 - 

Total Economic Development   3,816 3,816 - 

Environmental Services         
Garden Waste 2 194 10 (184) 
Grounds Maintenance   36 36 - 

Page 52



Page 13 of 18 

Environmental services Operational 2 552 247 (305) 
Facilities   21 21 - 
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles (3 Vehicles)   69 69 - 
Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine 2 34 40 6 

Total Economic Development   906 423 (483) 

Housing          
Disabled Facilities Grants - Private Sector Housing   585 585 - 
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair - Housing   75 75 - 
Welland Homes 3 3,285 2,203 (1,082) 

Total Housing   3,945 2,863 (1,082) 

Total   10,386 8,722 (1,664) 
          

Financing of Approved Schemes         
Borrowing   (4,021) (2,450) 1,571 
Capital Receipts   (749) (749) - 
Grants & Contributions   (2,284) (2,284) - 
Direct Revenue Financing   (3,332) (3,239) 93 

Total Financing of Approved Schemes   (10,386) (8,722) 1,664 

          
 

Notes to Table 5: 
1. Assets & Property (£100k) – Industrial Units Roof Replacement - Will not 

be part of this year’s program, mainly due to Covid-19, but will form part of 
next year’s program so will be carried forward into next year’s capital 
program 

 
2. Environmental Services (£483k) – Garden Waste Vehicle to be replaced 

in 2021/22 (£184k) together with LVG refuse (£154K). Sweeper to be 
rephased, possibly to 2024 (£151k). £6K on Pavement Cleaner Machine 
was due to price quoted for budget believed to be inclusive of Vat, when it 
is exclusive of VAT. 

 
3. Housing (£1,082k) – Current program of Build for Welland Homes is 

expected to be £2.2m for 15 properties, this balance is likely to be carried 
forward into next year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



Page 14 of 18 

 
 HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 
 
 There are no further revisions proposed to this Housing Revenue Account budget at this time. The 
 forecast detailed in table 7 shows a reduced in year use of this budget by £2.579m. 

   
 

Table 6 – HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 
 

Scheme N
o

te
 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(under) / 

Over Spend 
    £000's £000's £000's 
Decent Homes         
Central Heating 1 604 870 266 
Kitchen / Bathroom 1 1,295 1,100 (195) 
Decent Homes Component Replacements  1 318 - (318) 
Smoke Alarms 1 106 75 (31) 
Roofs and Gutters 1 790 500 (290) 
Doors & Windows 1 2 - (2) 
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes 1 309 250 (59) 
Chimneys 1 349 150 (199) 
Paths and Drives 1 37 30 (7) 
Boundary Walls 1 182 95 (87) 
Fees   210 210 - 

Total Decent Homes   4,202 3,280 (922) 

Major Area schemes         
Sewage Treatment Refurbishment   225 225 - 
The Square   673 673 - 
Car Parks   92 92 - 

Total Major Area schemes   990 990 - 

IT / System          
ICT Strategy   123 123 - 
Housing IT Systems   202 202 - 
PSPS Transformation Investment 40% HRA 2 96 - (96) 
ICT Infrastructure   6 6 - 

Total IT / System    427 331 (96) 

Aids & Adaptations         
Crease Drove Industrial Units   390 390 - 

Total Aids & Adaptations   390 390 - 

Grounds Maintenance         
Grounds Maintenance Equipment   13 13 - 
South Holland Maintenance   65 65 - 

Total Grounds Maintenance   78 78 - 

Page 54



Page 15 of 18 

Affordable Housing         
Weston Redevelopment Scheme 3a 1,613 1,600 (13) 
Purchase of units 3b 280 2 (278) 
Purchase of Open Market Properties 3c 37 2 (35) 
Wignals Gate S106 Acquisitions 3d 1,860 625 (1,235) 
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval   2,200 2,200 - 

Total Affordable Housing   5,990 4,429 (1,561) 

Total   12,077 9,498 (2,579) 
          

Financing of Approved Schemes         
1-4-1 Receipts   (482) (482) - 
Capital Receipts   (2,775) (2,775) - 
Shared Ownership Sales Proceeds   (409) (409) - 
Grants & Contributions   (190) (190) - 
Major Repairs Reserve   (5,416) (5,416) - 
Direct Revenue Financing   (2,805) (226) 2,579 

Total Financing of Approved Schemes   (12,077) (9,498) 2,579 

          
 
Notes to Table 6: 
 

1. Decent Homes All Elements (£922k) – The Budget for Decent Homes 
Component Replacement has been allocated to the individual categories, 
mainly Central Heating, but Overall £489k of the variance is due to Contracts 
ending, and new ones unlikely to be in place until a few weeks after the old 
contracts end. The balance of the underspend is a result of time lost due to 
the Covid pandemic. 

2. IT Systems (96k) - PSPS Transformation unable to capitalise – will be part of 
revenue budget. 

3. Affordable Housing. 
a. Weston Redevelopment Scheme (£13k) – Project completion expected 

this financial year, with only minor items falling into next year. 
b. Purchase of Units – This was the original Ashwood project which was 

completed in 2019/20, with only minor items falling into this year. The 
£278k for 2020/21 and £590k for 2021/22, was originally for one location 
which was not part of the final deal, so will not be spent as part of the 
Ashwood project, but carried forward as schemes subject to approval. 

c. Purchase of Open Market Properties. This was the second Ashwood 
Project, and again this was completed in 2019/20, with only minor items 
falling into this year, so the £35k will again be carried forward to 21/22 as 
schemes subject to approval. 

d. Wignals Gate S106 Acquisition – The timing of the building of these 
properties has changed since the original plan, primarily due to the Covid 
pandemic, therefore a significant part of the spend will fall into 2021/22 
and 2022/23.

Page 55



Page 16 of 18 

Section 5 – Treasury 
 
Security 
 
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as 
Officers believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are 
adequate to monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy 
to manage risk as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service 
provided by Link Asset Services which provides a maximum duration for investments 
depending on the colour rating calculated for each financial institution. 
 
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at 
the time the investment was made.   
 
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing 
counterparties excluding accrued interest.  
  

 
 
Cash 
The Council’s average level of treasury deposits to 30th June 2020 was £49.56m and non-treasury 
deposits was £7.03m. 
 

Page 56



Page 17 of 18 

 
 
As at 30th June 2020 investments held were £56m of which £15m was instant access cash available 
to meet cash flow requirements.  Other investments based on fair value were made up of: 

 
£31.50m - Short Term Investments up to 12 Months 
£2.49m – 95 Day Notice Account 
£2.60m - Welland Homes Equity 
£1.06m – South Holland Homes Equity 
£143k – Castle Sports Leisure (Long Term Debtor) 
£3.23m - Welland Homes Loans (Long Term Debtor)  

 
The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to 
maturity. 
 

 
 
Yield 
Budgeted Interest 2020/21                   £544k (£383k GF and £161k HRA) 
Actual Interest achieved to 30/06/20  £109k 
Profiled budget to 30/06/20    £136k 
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.262% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2020/21  0.808% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2019/20  1.122% 
 
As at 30th June 2020 investment interest was estimated to be £27k below the profiled budget.  The 
COVID19 pandemic has seen interest rates in the market fall for new investments. Below is an 
indication of the levels achievable on new investments: 
 

1 Month  0.04% 
3 Month  0.07% 
6 Month  0.10% 
1 Year     0.20% 
 

Estimated outturn for investment income currently stands at £345k. 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



Page 18 of 18 

 
 
 
External Borrowing 
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations under 
the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years on a maturity 
basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the financial year. 
 
For reference purposes, the following chart shows the PWLB borrowing rates for new loans over the 
last 13 months.   
 

 

Page 58



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance   

 

 

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 15 September 2020 

 

(Author: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits) 

 

Subject Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2021/22 - Consultation 

 

Purpose: To consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 2021/22 

 

 
Recommendation(s): That Cabinet approves consultation on the following: - 

 
a) Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with 

DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2021/22. 
 

b) Extend the backdating period for working age claimants from one month to three months. 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Each year the Council is required to consider whether to review its local Council Tax 

Support (CTS) scheme.   This report advises Cabinet about the conclusion of the 2020 

annual review and the resultant proposals for consultation in respect of changes to the 

2021/22 scheme. 

 

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 

approve a local Council Tax Support scheme.  Regulations include protection for 

pensioners but allow Councils to make changes in the way that support is calculated for 

working age claimants. 

 

1.3 Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it is necessary to consult major preceptors 

and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design. 

 

1.4 The current South Holland scheme provides a maximum amount of 70% support for 

working age claimants.  It protects War Pensioners, and from 2019/20 a new class was 

introduced for Care Leavers aged 18-21.  

 

1.5 A number of changes were introduced in financial year 2017/18, and these are summarised 

below for information: - 

 

 Second Adult Rebate removed from 2019/20. (This affected households where the 

claimant’s own income is too high to receive CTS, but there were other adult(s) living in 

the household whose combined income is low). 

 A minimum level of CTS at £5 per week was introduced.  (Where the amount of CTS 

each week would be less than £5, no CTS is now awarded).   

Page 59

Agenda Item 9.



 An increase in non-dependent deductions by 10% was implemented.  (A non-

dependent is an adult living with a claimant but who is not dependent upon them, for 

example an adult son or daughter.  Non-dependents are now expected to contribute 

more towards the household’s Council Tax bill). 

 Restricted CTS to Band D.  (This means claimants living in dwellings that are banded 

E, F, G or H have their entitlement to CTS calculated at the level of Council Tax Band 

D). 

 Reduced the Capital Limit to £8,000.  (This means claimants with more than £8,000 in 

capital are no longer entitled to any CTS). 

 Reduced the lower capital threshold to £3,000.  (This lowered the amount that is 

disregarded in the calculation of CTS). 

 Limited backdating to 1 month.  (This change was in line with the changes made by 

DWP for Housing Benefit).    

 Removed family premium for new claims.  (This change was in line with changes made 

by DWP for Housing Benefit).    

 

2.0 FUNDING THE COUNCIL TAX SCHEME 
 

2.1 In 2013/14, the amount of Government grant available to meet the cost of any support was 
reduced by approximately 10% nationally, although at a local level this equated to an 
11.4% cut.  From 2014/15 the Government grant has been subsumed within the Revenues 
Support Grant (RSG), and is not separately identifiable.  

 

2.2 At 31 July 2020 the amount of CTS discount awarded for 2020/21 was £4,310,244.  This is 
higher than expected as a result of the COVID-19 impact which has increased CTS take-
up.  With the COVID-19 position being unprecedented it is not possible to forecast with any 
degree of certainty.  There is a likelihood of further job losses and more people out of work, 
and as such it would be reasonable to anticipate further increase in CTS caseload and 
expenditure through the remainder of the financial year.   

The table below shows the profile of Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure in July 

2020.  The cost to South Holland being approximately £440,497 (10.2%). 

 Total Caseload Percentage Amount of CTS 

All Groups 5,193  £4,318,600 

Elderly 2,813 54.2% £2,640,735 

Working Age 2,380 45.8% £1,677,865 

 

2.3  2020/21 is the eighth year of the local Council Tax Support scheme.  The following table 

compares in-year collection rates since introduction of the changes in 2013/14.  (2012/13 

in-year collection performance is also shown for information).   

 

Date Collectable Debit In-Year Collection Rate 

2012/13 £35.4m 97.90% 

2013/14 £36.7m 97.94% 

2014/15 £37.8m 97.86% 

2015/16 £39.1m 98.05% 

2016/17 £41.1m 98.19% 

Page 60



2017/18 £43.3m 98.06% 

2018/19 £46.2m 97.83% 

2019/20 £48.5m 97.63% 

In-year collection rate as a percentage in 2019/20 was marginally lower than previous year, 

however over £3.2million more Council Tax was collected in 2019/20. Factors that affect in-

year collection include the reduced level of CTS awarded following changes introduced in the 

2017/18 scheme and people’s ability to pay, the roll out of Universal Credit (UC) and now the 

impacts and effects on households due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

2.4 Whilst in-year collection is relatively consistent there remains £117,093 outstanding in 
summonsed arrears in respect of the six previous year’s council tax support cases, 
representing 0.5% of the total arrears for 2014/15 to 2019/20.  Recovery and collection 
continues beyond the end of the year in question, however the prospect of recovery reduces. 
Provision for bad debt has been made.  Recovery has been impacted as a result of COVID-
19 and whilst there has been pro-active work to engage customers to prompt payment, or 
identify where support is needed, no formal legal processes have been commenced in 
2020/21 in respect of arrears or current year debt at the point of writing this report. Recovery 
action is planned to recommence from August/September 2020. 

2.5 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 and subsequent regulations granted billing 
authorities greater discretion over discounts and exemptions for certain categories of empty 
dwelling from 1st April 2013.  

2.6 Changes, decided by Council in January 2013, were introduced from 1st April 2013 to 

increase the council tax base and potential revenue to help fill the funding gap arising from 

the cut to grant in respect of CTS.  Following a resolution by Council, from 1 April 2019, the 

premium Council Tax on dwellings which are empty, unoccupied and unfurnished for more 

than 2 years increased from 50% to 100%, increasing Council Tax payable to 200%.  From 1 

April 2020, dwellings empty more than 5 years, the premium increased to 200%, increasing 

Council Tax payable to 300% from 1 April 2020. 

 

Additional COVID-19 support for 2020/21 

 

2.7  As part of its response to COVID-19, the government announced in the budget on 11 March 

2020 that it would provide local authorities with £500million of new grant funding to support 

economically vulnerable residents in 2020/21.  South Holland’s share of this 2020/21 grant 

funding is £461,387.  The Government expectation is for local authorities to use their 

discretionary powers under Section 13 A (1) (c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

to provide all recipients of working age Council tax Support with a further reduction of up to 

£150 in 2020/21. 

 

2.8  Following development of software to administer this award, 2,537 eligible council tax 

accounts have been updated with the additional hardship support, and revised bills were 

issued in July.  Current expenditure stands at £380,547, being 82.5% of the total fund.  As 

CTS take up continues to increase, it is predicted the majority of this fund will be spent on the 

Government’s stated expectation, however in the event of any remaining fund balance, this 

can be used to increase financial assistance through other local support mechanisms.    

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



3.0 ESTABLISHING A COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME FOR 2021/22 

 

3.1 For each financial year, the billing authority must consider whether to revise its scheme, or 

replace it with another scheme.  Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed mid-year. 

3.2 The Local Government Finance Act requires that before a scheme can be adopted by the 

billing authority, it must (in the following order): - 

 Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it, 

 Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

 Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the operation 
of the scheme. 

3.3 Each year since its introduction, as part of its decision making process for the forthcoming 

year the Council has resolved to uprate its scheme in line with Department for Work and 

Pensions (DWP) annual update of allowances and premiums for Housing Benefit.  Full 

Council agreed at its meeting on 22 January 2020 that the decision for 2020/21 would also 

apply to future years.  The 2021/22 DWP revisions can therefore be applied to SHDC’s 

2021/22 scheme without a further decision being necessary.    

 

3.4 The current unprecedented position as a result of COVID-19 presents financial impacts on 

both the council and its residents.  The current Council Tax Support scheme is familiar to our 

customers and is relatively stable.  It is considered that this is not the right time to make 

fundamental changes, and indeed maintaining the current scheme for 2021/22 would help 

those working age claimants maintain consistency at a time when they may be facing other 

personal and financial changes and challenges.  Also, any scheme modelling and forecasting 

at this time using current data and information would be unlikely to provide a reliable picture 

of the longer term claimant profile and caseload. 

 

3.5 The timescale in which a new CTS application can be backdated was reduced from three 

months to one month from 1 April 2017, in line with changes to housing benefit for working 

age customers.  To support customers that can demonstrate good cause for not applying for 

CTS sooner, reversing this decision would provide an extended period of backdated support 

in appropriate cases, thereby supporting the most vulnerable who would otherwise be left 

with an amount of Council Tax to pay in that period.  The cost to South Holland would be 

10.5% of the amount of backdated CTS, but the overriding benefit would be provision of 

support that might prevent debt and would support households in most need.  This would 

realign the time period for backdating CTS claims with the prescribed scheme for pensioners 

which already provides for backdating of up to three months. 

 

 

4 OPTIONS FOR CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 Option 1 (recommended) - Continuation of the current scheme into 2021/22, uprated in line 

with DWP updating of allowances and premiums for housing benefit, and increase 

backdating period from one month to three months for working age claimants. 

 

This option would see the current scheme retained for 2021/22, and provide additional 

support in appropriate cases for claims to be backdated up to three months. 

 

Page 62



4.2 Option 2 No change - Continuation of the current scheme into 2021/22, uprated in line with 

DWP updating of allowances and premiums for housing benefit.  

 

4.3 No further alternative options are proposed at this time for the reasons outlined in this 

report.  Any changes to the scheme would require consultation. 

 

 

5 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

5.1 The recommended option for consultation would provide continuity for customers at a time 

they might be experiencing change in circumstances due to COVID-19. 

 

5.2 This approach will continue to see South Holland’s scheme for 2021/22 modelled on the 

previous national Council Tax Benefit scheme, keeping administration broadly consistent 

with administration of Housing Benefit.  In 2020/21 this Council made scheme changes 

which link the CTS application with the Universal Credit award, and has introduced a 

threshold where frequent earnings changes do not result in revised Council Tax bills.  

Whilst there are a number of different schemes emerging nationally, including income 

banded schemes which simplify the scheme, many schemes will see losers and gainers.  

Whilst a no change scheme will not bring administrative efficiencies, it will retain CTS at 

current levels and in doing so provide consistent level of support for recipients. 

 

6 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

6.1 A no change scheme for 2021/22 will provide continuity for Council Tax Support recipients, 

and more certainty and stability in respect of the liability for Council Tax. Increasing 

backdating in appropriate circumstances to three month would provide additional support to 

households and would help to provide additional support and prevent debt. 

 

7 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

7.1 Financial 

7.1.1 It is difficult to forecast the Council Tax Support scheme costs in 2020/21 with any degree 

of certainty due to the current COVID-19 impacts, and the further CTS take up anticipated 

through the rest of this year due to the uncertain economic climate and the end of 

government support schemes such as the furlough.   

 

7.1.2 Presently expenditure is £4.310million, which is almost £157,000 higher than the pre-

COVID forecast.  If we see the same level of take up in the second half of the year, 

expenditure for 2020/21 could increase to £4.467million.  At this level the cost to SHDC for 

the 2020/21 scheme would be £469k (10.5%). 

 

7.2 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

Page 63



7.2.1 Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities and the 

public where changes to the scheme are proposed.  Whilst the recommendations made 

would not be a change to the core scheme principles, and could be considered more of an 

administrative amendment, a consultation exercise provides the opportunity for public and 

stakeholders to provide their views.    

 

 

8 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

8.1 All 

 

9 ACRONYMS 

 

9.1 DWP – Department for Work and Pensions 

CTS – Council Tax Support 

COVID – Coronovirus Disease 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Telephone Number  

Email: Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Page 64



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and/or Executive Director - Commercialisation 

(S151) 

 

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 15 September 2020  

 

(Author: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits) 

 

Subject Debt Write Off 

 

Purpose: To seek approval for the write-off of uncollectable debt. 

 

 
Recommendations:  
 
That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write-off. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Efficient and well administered debt management is crucial to the Council. Debt 

Management and Operational Debt Write Off Policies were approved by Cabinet in July 

2017.  Further information about the statutory requirements and processes relating to 

recovery and enforcement of debt was provided at a presentation to Cabinet Members in 

February 2018. 

 

1.2 This is the first report to Cabinet for this financial year and includes debts identified as 

uncollectable. 

 

2.0 2020/21 COVID-19 IMPACT ON COLLECTION, RECOVERY AND ENFORCEMENT 

 

2.1 The coronavirus pandemic has impacted on recovery and enforcement of revenue.  With 

households affected by changes in their circumstances, there has been a significant 

increase in Universal Credit claims and a corresponding increase in the take up of Local 

Council Tax Support.  It is anticipated there will be further impacts on households and 

businesses as the furlough ends, with the number out of work expected to rise. 

 

2.2 Through the lockdown period the Council has not taken the usual statutory debt recovery 

processes, and has taken a softer approach to seek to engage with households, and 

businesses, requiring those that can pay, to pay, and those that are struggling to make 

contact to see what help and support might be available.  Two ‘soft’ reminder letters have 

been issued, in May and July, and the Revenues team has pro-actively been calling 

customers. 

 

2.3 Statutory reminders are being reintroduced at the end of August, preparing for when 

Magistrates Courts re-open for Liability Order hearings.  The impact of courts not being 

open presently, and with no current indication of when these will be open, means more debt 

is likely to be carried over into future financial years.   

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10.



2.4 Following the lifting of restrictions, Enforcement Agents will recommence visits from August 

in respect of arrears cases that have already been through the Magistrates Court.  The Civil 

Enforcement Association (CIVEA) has issued clear guidelines and a post lockdown support 

plan, which includes sending a ‘reconnection’ letter to customers 30 days prior to the 

resumption of visits to engage customers, and in particular to focus on customers 

vulnerability with additional care to identify those customers that have been severely 

impacted financially by COVID-19.   

 

2.5 At the end of July 2020, the in-year collection rate for Council Tax was 38.35%, 

(£19,769,652 of the collectable debit of £51,548,708).   

 

At the same point in 2019, the in-year collection rate was 39.22% (£19,416,254 of the 

collectable debit of £49,508,526). 

 

2.6  The in-year collection position in respect of Business Rates in 2020 does not lend itself to a 

direct comparison against 2019 due to the additional covid relief measures introduced by 

the government which has provided many with a business rates ‘holiday’.  The in-year 

collection rate at the end of July 2020 was 37.78% (£7,509,392 of the collectable debit of 

£19,876,074).   

 

2.7  Collection is being monitored across all revenue streams, and progression of recovery and 

enforcement is under constant review and consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance 

and Section 151 Officer. 

 

 

3.0 WRITE OFFS FOR CABINET APPROVAL 

 

3.1 The need to write off debt can arise for a number of reasons, including debtors being 

untraceable, insolvent, ceased trading with no assets, or deceased with insufficient funds in 

the estate.  All methods of recovery are considered and pursued in line with legislative 

provision, before making the decision to write off.  This can include internal recovery action, 

use of debt enforcement agents, external tracing agents and procedures through the 

Courts.  

 

3.2 Case management has concluded that recovery and enforcement options in respect of the 

debts presented in this report have been considered, and exhausted, and there is no 

prospect of recovery.  Cabinet approval for write off is now requested.   

 

3.3 A summary of these debts is shown in the table below, totalling £30,624.11 (of which the 

indicative loss to South Holland District Council is £18,657.79).  

 

 

Reason for 

Write Off 

Council Tax Business 

Rates 

Housing 

Benefit 

Overpayment 

Sundry 

Debts 

Total 

Unenforceable    £1,396.93 £1,396.93 

Deceased   £1,189.72 £8,504.35 £9,694.07 

Uncollectable £2,362.26  £1,128.66  £3,490.92 

Insolvency £1,527.78 £8,756.08 £5,758.33  £16,042.19 

Page 66



Total £3,890.04 £8,756.08 £8,076.71 £9,901.28 £30,624.11 

Indicative loss 
to SHDC 

£408.45 £3,502.43 £4,846.03 £9,901.28 £18,657.79 

 

3.4 Details of individual debts are shown in confidential Appendices A - D. The reason provided 

for write-off is consistent with the policy approved by Cabinet.  Where applicable, multiple 

debts for an entity are shown together.   

 

3.5 The Operational Debt Write-Off Policy was originally approved by Cabinet in July 2017. 

 

3.6 In line with the policy, prior to this report being presented, consultation has taken place with 

the Section 151 Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Finance.  Cabinet Members can 

therefore be assured that the debts listed are irrecoverable, and that write off is the correct 

course of action. 

 

3.7 All debt approved for write off will be set against existing bad debt provisions and can be 

resurrected in full or in part at any time should new information come to light suggesting 

that they might be recoverable after all.  In all cases collection options have been 

exhausted and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

 

3.8 DELEGATED WRITE OFFS 

 

3.9 There are no under £1,050 write offs to report at this time.   

  

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

4.1 All recovery methods have been considered and where appropriate pursued, before 

making the decision to write off.  Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the 

same time as ensuring robust procedures for debt management are in place across all 

revenues streams. 

 

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

5.1 The Council has a clear position in terms of uncollectable debt, and its bad debt position. 

 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1  Financial 

6.1.1 Clear processes for the writing off of irrecoverable debt represents sound financial 

management practice.  Provision for bad debt is made in Council accounts. 

 

 

6.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1  By the nature, volume and value of annual revenue to the council there will always be 

uncollectable amounts which will be recommended for write off once avenues to recover 

are exhausted.  Provision for bad debt is made and reviewed regularly. 

 

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

Page 67



6.1 All 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 CIVEA - Civil Enforcement Association 

 

 

Background papers:- (Confidential) Operational Debt Write Off Policy, approved July 2017 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Telephone Number  

Email: Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

Exempt Decision: Y  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Confidential Appendices A-D, attached to this report:  

(Please note that the following appendix is not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 
(Information relating to any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of 
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Council Tax Debts 

Appendix B Business Rates Debts 

Appendix C Housing Benefit Overpayment Debts 

Appendix D Sundry Debts 

 

Page 68



Document is Restricted

Page 69

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. 2019/20 Financial Outturn
	Appendix 1 for 2019/20 Financial Outturn

	8. 2020/21 Financial Report Quarter 1
	Appendix A for 2020/21 Financial Report Quarter 1

	9. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2021/22 - Consultation
	10. Debt Write Off
	13. Debt Write Off
	Appendix B for Debt Write Off
	Appendix C for Debt Write Off
	Appendix D for Debt Write Off


